NO. 74779-7-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

FILED Jun 23, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

۷.

JOAQUIN DAVID GARCIA,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY A. BRADSHAW

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> IAN ITH Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Appellant

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred by excluding Garcia's prior conviction for Rape of a Child in the First Degree as a predicate offense to a charge of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree.

2. The trial court erred by entering an order dismissing prosecution.

3. The trial court erred in stating that the parties agreed that the question presented was a question of law, not fact.

4. The trial court erred in ruling that the matter was purely a question of law.

B. ISSUE PRESENTED

Lack of notice of a firearm prohibition is an affirmative defense to a charge of unlawful possession of a firearm, requiring the defendant to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he was not given oral or written notice of the firearm prohibition at the time of his predicate conviction and that he did not otherwise have actual notice or knowledge that he was prohibited from possessing firearms. Garcia was charged with Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree based on a 1994 juvenile conviction for rape of a child, but the written juvenile record was silent on written notice and the oral record no longer exists. Nevertheless, Garcia since acknowledged under oath that he knew the 1994 conviction affected his firearm rights; he has been subsequently convicted of several felonies where he was notified of his firearm prohibition; and in the present case he admitted to police that he has long been aware of the prohibition. Did the trial court err by disregarding the evidence of Garcia's actual knowledge, striking the child-rape conviction as a predicate offense as a matter of law, and dismissing the Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree charge, where Garcia never even asserted an affirmative defense?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. PROCEDURAL FACTS

Joaquin David Garcia was charged by Amended Information in King County Superior Court with six counts: (1) Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree (UPFA-1); (2) Felony Harassment — Domestic Violence; (3) Tampering With a Witness – Domestic Violence; (4 and 5) Domestic Violence Misdemeanor Violation of a Court Order; (6) Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the Second Degree (UPFA-2). CP 46-48. Count One alleged that in King County, Washington, on or about November 5, 2014, previously having been convicted in King County Superior Court of the crime of Rape of a Child in the First Degree, a serious offense as defined in RCW 9.41.010, he knowingly did own, have in his possession, or have in his control, a .40-caliber Ruger semiautomatic pistol, a firearm as defined in RCW 9.41.010. CP 46.

Pretrial, Garcia filed a Defense Motion To Prohibit Use Of Juvenile Conviction As A Predicate Offense. CP 11-22, 526-33. The trial court granted the motion and dismissed Count One with prejudice. CP 537. The trial court found that the dismissal was appealable by the State under RAP 2.2(b)(1). <u>Id.</u> The trial court expressly found pursuant to RAP 2.2(d) that there was no just reason for delay of the State's appeal, and ordered that it should be allowed to commence immediately. <u>Id.</u> The State timely appealed. CP 538-40.

2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

a. Unlawful Possession Of A Firearm In The First Degree.

On November 5, 2014, Garcia's girlfriend, L.B., told a doctor at a clinic in South Seattle that Garcia had threatened her the previous night and was presently in the waiting room and armed with a handgun. CP 4. Clinic staff called Seattle police, and when officers arrived, L.B. identified Garcia in the waiting room. Id. When the officers detained Garcia, he acknowledged that he had been in an argument with L.B. and added, "This is her gun and I am just carrying it for her. She knows I can't carry again." Id. Garcia also explained that he was a convicted felon and could not carry a gun. Id. He admitted that he had a handgun holstered on his right hip, under his coat. Id. Officers removed a loaded .40-caliber, semiautomatic Ruger pistol from the holster inside his waistband. Id.

Officers interviewed a frightened L.B. in the clinic exam room. CP 5. She said that she wanted to leave Garcia but feared for her safety. The previous evening, she and Garcia had argued over an unfamiliar phone number on her phone and Garcia accused her of seeing someone else. <u>Id.</u> Shortly thereafter, the couple were watching a television crime drama in which a man shot his girlfriend for infidelity. <u>Id.</u> Garcia turned to L.B. and said, "You can expect that to happen to you."

L.B. told the officers that Garcia kept two additional handguns in her home, which were under her name because of

Garcia's felony record. <u>Id.</u> The police advised L.B. to turn in the guns. <u>Id.</u>

After police read Garcia his rights, Garcia made several comments, recorded on patrol-car video, admitting that he knew that as a convicted felon he was prohibited from possessing firearms. <u>Id.</u> In fact, Garcia had numerous felony convictions, including a 1994 conviction in King County Juvenile Court for Rape of a Child in the First Degree. CP 3, 6, 146-48.

b. Exclusion Of Predicate And Dismissal.

Garcia did not announce an affirmative defense at his omnibus hearing on October 9, 2015.¹ Supp. CP __ (Sub #57, Omnibus Order). Instead, Garcia filed his Defense Motion To Prohibit Use Of Juvenile Conviction As A Predicate Offense on January 5, 2016, the week before trial. RP 8-9²; CP 11; Supp. CP __ (Sub# 75, 76, Orders On Continuance of Trial Date). Garcia argued that the 1994 child-rape conviction should be excluded, resulting in dismissal of Count One, because "Mr. Garcia did not receive notice of the loss of the right to possess firearms at the time

¹ In fact, he did not state the nature of a defense at all.

² The verbatim report of proceedings consists of one volume of transcribed pretrial hearings on January 20 and 26, 2016 and February 24, 2016.

of his 1994 conviction."³ CP 20. The written records of the juvenile-court conviction did not mention firearm rights, and the juvenile-court clerk was unable to find the audio records of Garcia's 1994 juvenile hearings. CP 81; RP 27. Garcia argued that this proved that his statutory "right to notice was thus violated" under RCW 9.41.047(1).⁴

Garcia did not assert that at the time of the charged offense he was not aware of his firearm prohibition. CP 20-23, 527-31; RP 16-28. He agreed he was not affirmatively misled into believing he maintained the right to possess guns. RP 30. His declaration in support of his motion stated that his juvenile-court lawyer never told him about the firearm rights, but he did not assert that the juvenile court had not advised him of his loss of rights. CP 80.

Garcia's argument, in a nutshell, was that because the State could not now conclusively prove whether the juvenile court gave him formal notice in 1994, then the court must presume that the notice statute was violated and the child-rape conviction can never

³ While Garcia has also been convicted of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the Second Degree, Assault in the Third Degree, Attempting to Elude, Rape of a Child in the Third Degree and Failure to Register as a Sex Offender, none of those felonies is a "serious offense" under RCW 9.41.010(18). Garcia is charged with UPFA-2 in Count 6 based on all those predicates.

⁴ The State had sought the audio records from Garcia's juvenile-court guilty plea, sentencing and subsequent revocation of a special sex-offender disposition alternative. CP 81; RP 27.

be used as a predicate offense for any UPFA charge. RP 20-23, 527-31; RP 16-28. All subsequent notice was immaterial, Garcia averred. It does not matter if he knew it was illegal to have the loaded pistol in his waistband, he contended, because the law requires that unless notice is given at the time of the predicate conviction, the crime is forever extinguished as a predicate.

The State agreed that based on the state of the 21-year-old juvenile-court records, it could not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Garcia was given oral and written notice in juvenile court in 1994. RP 38. But the State maintained that the burden remained on Garcia to prove to the jury as an affirmative defense that he was not notified in court and did not otherwise know of his prohibition, and the State should be allowed to defeat the affirmative defense through Garcia's own admissions and actions showing longstanding actual knowledge of his prohibition. CP 95-98; RP 35-39. The State argued that Garcia's interpretation of the law improperly imposed notice as an element for the State to prove, among other "absurd results." RP 35.

Additionally, the State presented conviction records to show that between 1994 and the date of the charged offense, Garcia had been formally advised repeatedly of his loss of firearm rights while being sentenced for his more recent felonies. <u>See e.g.</u>, CP 226, 262, 277, 316, 349, 366, 444; RP 36. Moreover, in 1998 Garcia was charged in Pierce County Superior Court with Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree based on the 1994 rape conviction as the predicate offense. CP 239; RP 32-33. Garcia subsequently pleaded guilty to Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the Second Degree, and knowingly and intelligently stated, as a fact to support the conviction, "I was also convicted of a felony in 1994." CP 229, 233.⁵ The State argued that it should be allowed to introduce all this evidence to a jury to rebut Garcia's affirmative defense. RP 36.

Nonetheless, the trial court proposed that because the missing audio record meant the State could not prove that notice was given in court in 1994, then the motion to dismiss was a question of law instead of factual question for the jury. RP 38. When the trial court asked the State whether it agreed that it was a question of law, the State disagreed: "I think the defense still needs

⁵ When the trial court asked Garcia's attorney about this conviction, the lawyer alleged that the reduced charge of UPFA-2 was based on Garcia's possession of a firearm while underage, rather than on the rape conviction. RP 33. The record below does not include the amended information for UPFA-2, and there is no notation in the guilty plea or judgment and sentence clarifying which specific prong of the UPFA-2 statute he was convicted under. <u>See</u> CP 220 (denoting then-RCW 9.41.040(1)(b) but not the subparts below (b)).

to meet their burden, your honor, and provide something which would indicate that Mr. Garcia never affirmatively received notice." RP 38. Yet the trial court then said, "I am hearing both parties agree that this really is a question of — at this point a question of law; that is if this court concludes that the statute makes mandates that notice needs to be given at the time, then the defense motion should be granted, dismissing count 1 at this time." RP 40.

On February 24, 2016, the court granted the defense motion and dismissed Count One. In its oral ruling, the trial court again asserted that whether Garcia received notice was a matter of law, and misstated that "the parties have also agreed" to that. RP 60. The trial court concluded that any subsequent notice not made at the time of the 1994 conviction was irrelevant, and found that there was "no evidence, circumstantial or direct, that in this case Mr. Garcia was at the time of the underlying conviction informed of his prohibition regarding possessing a firearm." RP 61. The court concluded:

> Thus I believe, as a matter of law, we need not at this stage conclude that this is any longer a matter of fact, and that it is -- that it would become Mr. Garcia's burden of proof, because as a matter of law, the evidence does not establish that at the time of the underlying conviction, Mr. Garcia

received either oral or written notice. The motion to dismiss -- I believe it is count 1 -- is granted.

<u>ld.</u>

In its written order, the trial court reiterated that there was no

evidence that Garcia was "at the time of the underlying conviction

relevant to count 1 informed for his prohibition concerning a firearm,

in any way." CP 542. The trial court ruled that the controlling law

did not allow that "subsequent 'otherwise' knowledge may be

retroactively attached to the predicate conviction already charged."

Id. The court concluded:

As a matter of law, at the time of the underlying conviction and sentencing in question Mr. Garcia did not receive the statute's mandated written or oral notice of his ineligibility to possess firearms as required by RCW 9.41.047(1). The proper remedy for this violation is exclusion of that proposed predicate offense.

CP 542-43.

D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY EXCLUDING GARCIA'S CHILD-RAPE CONVICTION AS A MATTER OF LAW AND DISMISSING THE CHARGE OF UNLAWFUL POSSESSION OF A FIREARM IN THE FIRST DEGREE.

Joaquin Garcia has known for decades that he is prohibited

by law from possessing guns. The trial court erred by entirely

disregarding that in favor of an untenable legal rule that improperly

shifted the evidentiary burden to the State and ignored our

Supreme Court's focus on actual notice and knowledge rather than the rigidity of a *per se* rule. This Court should reverse the trial court's exclusion of Garcia's first-degree-child-rape conviction as a predicate offense and its dismissal of the Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree charge.

A trial court's pretrial dismissal of criminal charges pursuant

to CrR 8.3(c) is subject to de novo review.⁶ State v. Conte, 159

Wn.2d 797, 803, 154 P.3d 194 (2007).

RCW 9.41.047(1) requires a convicting court to give notice

of the prohibition of the right to possess firearms. The statute

provides:

At the time a person is convicted ... of an offense making the person ineligible to possess a firearm ... the [convicting court] shall notify the person, orally and in writing, that the person ... may not possess a firearm unless his or her right to do so is restored by a court of record.

However, the legislature did not enact a remedy for a

violation of RCW 9.41.047(1). State v. Minor, 162 Wn.2d 796, 803,

174 P.3d 1162 (2008). "Ignorance of the law is generally not a

defense, and a convicted felon's knowledge that his right to firearm

⁶ In its order of dismissal, the trial court cited CrR 8.3(b) (Motion of Court — governmental misconduct), but the court should have cited CrR 8.3(c) (Motion of Defendant — insufficient evidence of prima facie case). The dismissal was based on the fact that without the 1994 child-rape conviction as a predicate, the State had insufficient evidence for a prima facie case of UPFA-1. There was no allegation that the State committed misconduct in the present case.

ownership is prohibited is not an element of the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm." <u>State v. Breitung</u>, 173 Wn.2d 393, 402, 267 P.3d 1012 (2011).

With that in mind, our Supreme Court has developed a remedy for violations of RCW 9.41.047(1), most recently pronounced in <u>Breitung</u>: "Lack of notice under RCW 9.41.047(1) is an affirmative defense, which [a defendant] must establish by a preponderance of the evidence." 173 Wn.2d at 403. The defendant must establish that he was "not notified of his firearm prohibition as required under RCW 9.41.047(1) *and did not otherwise have notice of the prohibition against possession of firearms*. <u>Id.</u> at 404 (emphasis added). "*Absent that notice*, he is entitled to reversal of the unlawful possession of firearms conviction." <u>Id.</u> (emphasis added).

In other words, it is Garcia's burden to prove to a jury by a preponderance of the evidence that he *did not have notice* that he could not lawfully own a firearm. If, at the time of the predicate conviction, the court provided oral or written notice that Garcia could not possess a firearm, the defense fails. If Garcia was not notified by the court at the time of the prior conviction, but he otherwise had knowledge at the time of the current offense that he

1606-15 Garcia COA

was prohibited from possessing a firearm, or was given notice before the date of the current offense that he was prohibited from possessing a firearm, the defense fails.

Thus, Garcia needed to affirmatively assert the defense that he did not have notice (he has never actually done this — he has merely claimed lack of proof of in-court notice). Then the trial court should have treated the claim as the affirmative defense and the question of fact that it is, and required Garcia to prove it to a jury. The State had the right to rebut Garcia's claims with evidence that Garcia long had actual notice of his firearm prohibition at the time he possessed the pistol in this case. That includes, for example, the 1998 guilty-plea document in which Garcia acknowledged that the 1994 conviction affected his firearm rights.⁷ And it includes all the other documentation, court records, circumstantial evidence and contemporary admissions by Garcia that he long has been aware that he is not allowed to have guns.

Our Supreme Court's requirement that the defendant must prove a lack of actual notice — that he did not know he was prohibited from having guns at the time he had one — fits squarely

⁷ If Garcia believes, as he argued below, that this evidence does "not really necessarily" prove he knew the 1994 conviction affected his firearm rights, then he can certainly argue that to the factfinder. <u>See</u> RP 33-34.

with the history and spirit of both the notice legislation and the high court's judicially created remedy. Garcia's proffered rule, which the trial court accepted, discounts that history and spirit with harmful effect.

The notice requirement contained in RCW 9.41.047(1) "was one provision in a bill aimed at violence prevention, implying the legislature's concern with addressing the problem of violence without interfering with a citizen's right to possess and use firearms." <u>Minor</u>, 162 Wn.2d at 803 (citing Engrossed Second Substitute H.B. (ESSHB) 2319, 53d Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash.1994)). "Indeed, in enacting this statute, the legislature balanced the concern with escalating violence, which some commentators blamed on the 'ready availability of firearms,' with the concern that restricting firearm availability will infringe upon the right of a law-abiding citizen to keep and bear arms." <u>Id.</u> (citing Final Bill Report on ESHB at 2).

In passing the law, the legislature expressly found that "random violence, including homicide and the use of firearms, has dramatically increased over the last decade." LAWS OF 1994, ch. 7, § 101. Our lawmakers declared that "violence is abhorrent to the aims of a free society and that it cannot be tolerated," and "State

1606-15 Garcia COA

efforts at reducing violence must include" harsher penalties and "reducing the unlawful use of and access to firearms." <u>Id.</u> Within that climate, the legislature's goal for RCW 9.41.047(1) was not a technical hurdle to protect armed felons who clearly know they are barred from possessing guns. Our lawmakers created a procedure to ensure that people are not prosecuted for illegal gun possession when they are truly unaware that it is illegal for them to have guns.

In <u>Minor</u>, our supreme court interpreted the notice statute's "unequivocal mandate" of oral and written notice to mean that "the legislature regarded *such notice* of deprivation of firearms rights as substantial." 162 Wn.2d at 803 (emphasis added). Because the legislature had enacted no remedy for violation, our supreme court sought a remedy "consistent with the purpose of the statutory requirement." <u>Id.</u> at 803-04.

But our supreme court conspicuously did not hold that the failure to notify Minor of his firearm prohibition at the time of the conviction merited reversal *per se*, though it certainly could have done so. <u>Id.</u> at 804. Instead, the court held that reversal was required because Minor had been "affirmatively misled" by the failure of the sentencing court to check a box next to the firearm prohibition. <u>Id.</u> That lack of a checkmark had "affirmatively

represented to Minor that those paragraphs did not apply to him." <u>Id.</u> The supreme court's emphasis was on the effect of a violation of RCW 9.41.047(1) on the defendant's actual notice.

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