NO. 74779-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF V DIVISION ONE	VASHINGTON
STATE OF WASHINGTON,	
Appellant,	FILED
v.	Sep 02, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I
JOAQUIN GARCIA,	State of Washingtor
Respondent,	·
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COU	
The Honorable Timothy Bradshaw, Judgo	e
BRIEF OF RESPONDENT	
шъъ	HEED WINIVI ED

JENNIFER WINKLER Attorney for Respondent

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

#### **

#### A. RESTATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Under RCW 9.41.047(1)(a) "[a]t the time a person is convicted . . . of an offense making the person ineligible to possess a firearm . . . the [convicting court] shall notify the person, orally and in writing, that the person . . . may not possess a firearm unless his or her right to do so is restored by a court of record."

The respondent was charged with first degree unlawful possession of a firearm (UPFA) based on a single predicate conviction, a 1994 juvenile adjudication when the respondent was 13 years old. The undisputed record shows the juvenile court failed to provide the respondent oral and written notice of the firearm prohibition. Similarly, the State points to no evidence that the respondent "otherwise" received notice at the time of the adjudication. In light of the foregoing, did the trial court correctly conclude that dismissal of the respondent's first degree UPFA charge was required?

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In October 1994, when Joaquin Garcia was 13 years old, he pleaded guilty to first degree rape of a child based on digital contact with his younger sister. CP 24, 32; RCW 9A.44.073. CP 38. Records reveal that Garcia had himself been the victim of long-term sexual abuse by his biological father starting when he was just four years old. CP 169-70, 174-75.

RCW 9.41.047(1)(a), which requires a convicting court to notify a person orally and in writing when a conviction makes that person ineligible to possess a firearm, had gone into effect a few months before the plea. Laws of 1994, 1st Spec. Sess. ch. 7, § 404 (effective July 1, 1994). But the superior court record relating to the adjudication contains no record of oral or written notice to Garcia. See CP 140-64 (court documents related to adjudication, including "Statement of Juvenile Offender on Plea of Guilty and Dispositional Order," attached as Appendix B to State's Response to Defense Motion); see also RP 26-27 (acknowledgment by State that entire record related to 1994 adjudication had been provided to court); CP 81 (acknowledgement, in State's Response, that audio recordings or other record of plea hearing, sentencing hearing, and SSODA revocation proceedings were unavailable).

Four years later, Garcia pleaded guilty to a second felony, second degree UPFA.<sup>2</sup> However, the plea was based on possession of a firearm when he was less than 18 years old. CP 229 (Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty, listing elements of charged crime as "knowingly and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The pertinent statutory language has remained unchanged since 1994. See former RCW 9.41.047(1) (1994); Laws of 1994, 1st Spec. Sess. ch. 7, § 404 (effective July 1, 1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Although Garcia was 17, that plea was entered in adult court. CP 220.

unlawfully possess[ing] a firearm while under the age of 18"); former RCW 9.41.040(1)(b)(iii) (1997).<sup>3</sup>

Corresponding to that conviction, Garcia received written notice that he was ineligible to possess a firearm. He also received similar notice as to a number of subsequent convictions. <u>E.g.</u> CP 262-63. However, the only conviction qualifying him for first degree UPFA remains the 1994 juvenile adjudication. CP 226, 233.

In November of 2014, the State charged Garcia with first degree UPFA, with the 1994 conviction as the sole predicate offense (count 1). CP 1-2, 46 (original and amended charging documents). The State also charged Garcia with felony harassment – domestic violence, witness tampering, two counts of misdemeanor violation of a court order – domestic violence, and, based on his other prior convictions, second degree UPFA (count 6). CP 46-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Garcia's statement "in his own words" states the following:

On July 16, 1998, in Pierce County, I was 17 years old [scratched out word] knowingly had a gun in my possession. I did not have a lawful reason to have the gun. I was also convicted of a felony in 1994.

CP 233. According to the State, this indicates it is unclear under which prong of second degree UPFA Garcia pleaded. BOA at 8 n. 5. But this argument ignores the charge as set forth at CP 229.

Garcia moved to dismiss the first degree UPFA charge on the ground that he never received the required notice under RCW 9.41.047(1)(a). CP 20-22. He also filed a declaration stating that his attorney at the time never alerted him to any firearm prohibition. CP 80.

The court agreed and dismissed the charge. RP 59-62 (court's oral ruling); CP 71-76 (ruling denying State's motion to reconsider ruling); CP 537 (order dismissing); CP 541-43 (written findings, attached to this brief as the Appendix).

The court's written findings state that, as to Garcia's 1994 conviction, he did not receive oral and written notice as mandated by statute. CP 541-42. The court based its findings on the juvenile case file, which the parties appeared to agree was the "entire universe of existing evidence" concerning the 1994 adjudication, including the notices the court provided to Garcia at that time. CP 542; see also RP 60 (court's oral ruling, observing that parties agreed regarding the existing record as to the 1994 conviction); see also RP 26-27 (State's acknowledgment that recordings of any related court hearing had been destroyed).

In reaching its decision, the court distinguished, on its facts, a recent decision from this Court, <u>State v. Mitchell</u>. There, Mitchell argued that his UPFA conviction should be reversed because, as a matter of law, he had shown a lack of *oral* notice as required under RCW 9.41.047(1)(a).

This Court held that Mitchell had not presented undisputed facts demonstrating a lack of oral notice under the statute.<sup>4</sup>

Rather, the superior court found the present case was more similar to State v. Breitung.<sup>5</sup> Like Garcia, Breitung had not received the notice required by statute. CP 542. The court also rejected the State's argument that Garcia's subsequent convictions were sufficient to establish Garcia had "otherwise" obtained knowledge of the firearm prohibition. The superior court observed that, consistent with Breitung, the notification requirement could not be satisfied by information obtained well after the time of the predicate conviction. CP 542.<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>State v. Mitchell</u>, 190 Wn. App. 919, 928-30, 361 P.3d 205 (2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1024 (2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> State v. Breitung, 173 Wn.2d 393, 401, 267 P.3d 1012 (2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See Breitung, 173 Wn.2d at 404 (reversing where "[t]he State did not establish that Breitung *otherwise* had knowledge of the law or notice of the firearm prohibition.") (emphasis added); see also State v. Breitung, 155 Wn. App. 606, 624, 230 P.3d 614 (2010), aff'd in part, 173 Wn.2d 393, 267 P.3d 1012 (2011) ("[W]e hold that where a convicting court has failed to give the mandatory notice directed in RCW 9.41.047(1) and there is no evidence that the defendant has otherwise acquired actual knowledge of the firearm possession prohibition . . . the defendant's subsequent conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm . . . must be reversed.") (quoted in Breitung, 173 Wn.2d at 402).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The court also rejected the State's argument that the charge should not be dismissed based on <u>State v. Carter</u>, 127 Wn. App. 713, 719-21, 112 P.3d 561 (2005) (even where firearm prohibition notification was not provided, no relief available because Carter was not "affirmatively".

The court dismissed count 1. CP 537, 541-43. The court ruled, however, that the dismissal order was appealable of right under RAP 2.2(b)(1) as a final judgment. The court stayed the case pending the State's appeal. Supp. CP \_\_\_\_ (sub no. 97, Order Staying Proceedings Pending State's Appeal). Garcia, who has not been tried on any of the charged crimes,<sup>8</sup> remains incarcerated pending this appeal. Supp. CP \_\_\_\_ (sub no. 89, Order Denying Bail Reduction).

#### C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DISMISSED GARCIA'S FIRST DEGREE UPFA CHARGE.

Washington courts have held knowledge that possessing a firearm is illegal is not an element of the crime of unlawful possession. The Supreme Court has, nonetheless, twice reversed unlawful possession convictions where the statutorily required oral and written notice was not provided. Thus, those cases present an exception to the general rule that ignorance of the law is not a defense.

misled" by sentencing court). The court correctly observed that the <u>Carter</u> Court's rationale was explicitly rejected in Breitung. CP 543.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Garcia has not been convicted of, nor has he pleaded guilty to, any of the charged crimes in this case. Thus, the "substantive facts" set forth at pages 3-5 of the Brief of Appellant reflect the unproven allegations in the charging documents.

The rule set forth in those cases applies in this case. The undisputed record of the 1994 adjudication establishes that the statutorily required oral and written notice was not provided to Garcia. Likewise, the State is unable to demonstrate that, contemporaneous to or even roughly contemporaneous to the predicate adjudication, Garcia "otherwise" received notice, or obtained knowledge of, the firearm prohibition. This Court should, accordingly, affirm the superior court's dismissal order.

#### a. <u>Introduction to applicable law</u>

Before the start of trial, an accused person may "move to dismiss a criminal charge due to insufficient evidence establishing a prima facie case of the crime charged." CrR 8.3(c). This process is essentially a summary judgment procedure "to avoid a 'trial when all the material facts are not genuinely in issue and could not legally support a judgment of guilt." State v. Horton, \_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_, \_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_\_, 2016 WL 4001433, at \*7 (July 26, 2016) (quoting State v. Freigang, 115 Wn. App. 496, 501, 61 P.3d 343 (2002)). When a defendant advances an affirmative defense as a matter of law, the question must be determined in light of the evidence most favorable to the plaintiff. Cakowski v. Oleson, 1 Wn. App. 780, 781, 463 P.2d 673 (1970).

A person commits first degree UPFA "if the person owns, has in his . . . possession, or has in his . . . control any firearm after having

previously been convicted in this state or elsewhere of any serious offense as defined in this chapter." Former RCW 9.41.040 (1)(a) (2014). Garcia's 1994 first degree child rape conviction arguably qualifies as a "[c]rime of violence," which is included within the definition of a "serious offense" for purposes of first degree UPFA. RCW 9.41.010(3)(a), (b); RCW 9.41.010(21)(a); RCW 9A.44.073.

But RCW 9.41.047(1)(a) unambiguously requires a convicting court to give the convicted person notice of the ensuing prohibition on the right to possess firearms. The statute provides:

At the time a person is convicted . . . of an offense making the person ineligible to possess a firearm . . . the [convicting court] shall notify the person, orally and in writing, that the person . . . may not possess a firearm unless his . . . right to do so is restored by a court of record.

RCW 9.41.047(1)(a) (emphasis added).

Although RCW 9.41.047(1) does not expressly provide a remedy for a convicting court's violation of its terms, the Supreme Court has fashioned a remedy for such a violation. Twice in the last 10 years, the Supreme Court has reversed convictions for UPFA based on courts' failure to comply with the statute. State v. Breitung, 173 Wn.2d 393, 401, 267 P.3d 1012 (2011); State v. Minor, 162 Wn.2d 796, 174 P.3d 1162 (2008).

Lack of oral and written notice of the firearm prohibition is an affirmative defense to UPFA. Breitung, 173 Wn.2d at 403. To successfully assert the defense, an accused must show that, when he was convicted of the predicate offense, he did not receive both oral and written notice that it was illegal for them to own a firearm. Id.; RCW 9.41.047(1)(a) (requiring the convicting court to notify a person orally and in writing when a conviction makes him or her ineligible to possess a firearm). A person is "convicted" at the time "a plea of guilty has been accepted, or a verdict of guilty has been filed, notwithstanding the pendency of . . . sentencing or disposition." RCW 9.41.040(3).

b. Because there are no disputed material facts, the court correctly ruled, as a matter of law, that Garcia had successfully asserted a defense to the charge of first degree UPFA.

Here, the superior court ruled as a matter of law that Garcia had established that, as to the only offense that could serve as a predicate to first degree UPFA, the juvenile court did not provide oral and written notice as required by statute. CP 541; see also CP 542. The superior court also correctly ruled that the State had pointed to no evidence that Garcia "otherwise" obtained notice at the time of the juvenile adjudication. CP 542. The superior court's ruling was correct.

Relying on this Court's <u>Mitchell</u> opinion, the State argues on appeal that the superior court shifted the burden of disproving the affirmative defense to the State. Brief of Appellant (BOA) at 19-20. In <u>Mitchell</u>, this Court rejected a defendant's claim that no reasonable juror could have failed to find he proved the <u>Breitung</u> defense. <u>State v. Mitchell</u>, 190 Wn. App. 919, 928-30, 361 P.3d 205 (2015), <u>review denied</u>, 185 Wn.2d 1024 (2016).

But <u>Mitchell</u> is distinguishable on its facts. There, State was able to demonstrate that Mitchell had received written notice complying with RCW 9.41.047(1). The evidence strongly suggested that he had received oral notice as well. Id. at 928-29.

Mitchell's statement on plea of guilty, which the trial court admitted into evidence, informed Mitchell that he would lose the right to own or possess firearms. Mitchell signed the document. Mitchell's statement on plea of guilty, in addition to providing notice that Mitchell was ineligible to possess firearms, contained a bracketed statement in capital letters: "[JUDGE MUST READ THE FOLLOWING TO OFFENDER]." Mitchell's disposition order was also admitted into evidence. This document also notified Mitchell that he could not own, use, or possess a firearm. It was signed by the judge, Mitchell, and Mitchell's attorney. Id. at 929.

The only evidence supporting Mitchell's claim he was not given oral notice came from Mitchell himself. He testified that he did not *remember* receiving oral notice. And the State then cross-examined him about the gaps in his memory regarding the statement on plea of guilty. Id. This Court observed that, on those facts, the jury was free to make its own judgment as to whether Mitchell's statements were credible. The jury could have disbelieved Mitchell. Id.

Not surprisingly, this Court rejected Mitchell's claim that the affirmative defense applied as a matter of law. <u>Id</u>. at 930.

This case is not like <u>Mitchell</u>. There is nothing in the record—"the entire universe of existing evidence"—indicating that Garcia was given written notice at the time of the adjudication or disposition. There is nothing in the record to suggest he was given oral notice. So Garcia did not receive oral and written notice. Garcia need not testify to establish the affirmative defense. Unlike in <u>Mitchell</u>, there are—as the superior court correctly found—no disputed facts in this respect. CP 541-42.

The State argues that lack of evidence is not evidence. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>State v. Fisher</u>, \_\_\_ Wn.2d \_\_\_, 374 P.3d 1185, 1193 (2016) (self-defense case cited in State's Statement of Additional Authorities). But in <u>Breitung</u>, the seminal case on this subject, the situation was identical: There was no evidence of written notice. The record was also silent on the

question of oral notice. Under the circumstances, the Supreme Court found Breitung had established the defense. <u>Breitung</u>, 173 Wn.2d at 403.

Breitung controls in this respect: Lack of evidence of written notification plus silent record as to oral notification establishes the affirmative defense. This Court should, therefore, reject the State's contention that the superior court shifted the burden. Because there are no disputed facts, the court correctly ruled that Garcia had established the affirmative defense as a matter of law. <u>Cakowski</u>, 1 Wn. App. at 781.

c. The superior court correctly ruled that, despite later notice, the violation of RCW 9.41.047(1)(a) as to the predicate offense requires dismissal.

The State also argues that the 1994 court's failure to provide the notice required under RCW 9.41.047(1)(a) is irrelevant given that, based on later convictions, Garcia later received notice he could not possess

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